FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/12/2025
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

Case #: 1038658

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
2/12/2025 3:20 PM

SUPREME COURT NO. _____

NO. 84745-7-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ELLE LOE,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Janet Helson, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JARED B. STEED
Attorney for Petitioner
NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC
The Denny Building
2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250
Seattle, Washington 98121
206-623-2373

B. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The trial court admitted the deceased complaining witness's statements from a recorded home conversation with his children concerning transactions which formed the basis of Loe's criminal charges, as evidence of his state of mind, mental condition, or intent. The recording contains no acknowledgment of consent and no announcement that it is being recorded. Is review appropriate where the Court of Appeals opinion that despite Loe's objection to its admission, the recording did not violate the privacy act, conflicts with prior precedent from this Court and the Court of Appeals, and involves a question of substantial public interest?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Trial evidence.

97-year-old Morris Gorelick watched Loe grow up while her mother, Bonnie Anderson, cared for his wife and later him, over nearly 20 years. 1RP¹ 1210-11; 2RP 29-30, 32, 622, 645, 671, 782-83, 890, 893, 964. Gorelick and his daughter, Paula² Gorelick, attended Loe's marriage to Trevor Loe in 2015. 2RP 966, 1193, 1243.

After Loe lost her restaurant marketing job in 2016, she sought to expand her own pre-existing business and continued to work in marketing. 1RP 1234-35; 2RP 744-49, 756-57, 941, 945-46, 1035. In this capacity, she assisted several clients with updating their business branding, producing marketing materials, and assisting with campaigns on social media. 2RP

¹ The index to the record citation is in the Brief of Appellant (BOA) at 4, n.1.

² This petition refers to Morris Gorelick and Elle Loe by their last names, and Kenneth Gorelick, Paula Gorelick, and Trevor Loe by their first names.

748, 775, 810, 948-49, 1036; 3RP 534. After two years, Loe sought to expand her business to include co-marketing deals with reality tv personalities to sell several products, including eyewear and sleepwear. 2RP 775, 827, 950, 954-55, 1042; 3RP 534-35. Seeking investment capital, Loe approached Gorelick for funds to expand her business in 2018. 2RP 1051, 1195, 1229, 1244. Gorelick had owned, operated, and invested in several businesses over the course of his life. 2RP 180-82, 206-07, 332, 337, 342-44, 493. Paula had been present when Loe initially proposed the investment to Gorelick and advised him not to contribute more than \$25,000. 2RP 1051, 1195-97, 1235, 1244.

In May 2018, Loe and her then-husband, Trevor, drafted a contract to clarify that, in exchange for his \$100,000 investment, Gorelick would be entitled to 15 percent of all sales until he had been repaid 125 percent of his investment amount. After that, he would receive 2.5 percent of sales for three years. 1RP 1203-07; 2RP 412, 416, 473, 479. The contract further

established that, if Gorelick did not receive the 125 percent return on his investment within three years, he would receive 20 percent equity ownership in the business. 2RP 412, 416, 473, 479.

Trevor helped prepare the contract and is identified in the document as the chief financial officer (CFO) of the company, but was not present when Loe and Gorelick signed it. 1RP 1202-05; 2RP 400, 463-64, 973-75, 976-79, 1052-54, 1067-69, 1083. Gorelick had granted powers of attorney to Paula, and she had been helping him with various financial tasks for some time, but she did not review the initial contract between Loe and her father, and did not mention the investment to her siblings. 2RP 147-48, 1199-1200, 1208, 1247, 1265. Gorelick wrote Loe a check for \$100,000, dated May 16, 2018. 1RP 1201-02; 2RP 1198; 3RP 167, 171, 173-76. Loe did take steps to launch the new venture; she met with suppliers and contracted with various web designers, photographers, stylists, and models. These efforts resulted in a few social media pages,

web pages, and a bus wrap advertising one of the products. 2RP 778-79, 852, 857-58, 862-65, 867, 900-02, 906; 3RP 52-53, 56-57, 80-81, 142-43. However, sales ended in August 2018. 3RP 63, 79-81, 107-09, 111, 144.

Shortly thereafter, Loe offered Gorelick a promissory note in exchange for a loan to her and Trevor in the amount of \$210,000. Gorelick explained that he would not be making any loans to Loe, because he was only interested in making investments. 2RP 982-85, 986-88, 1073-77. In September 2018, Loe and Gorelick executed a second contract which deemed Gorelick a silent partner to Loe in exchange for his \$450,000 investment and entitled him to 20 percent of the annual profit. It further noted that Gorelick would receive a 47 percent equity ownership if his investment was not repaid within four years. 1RP 1211-15; 2RP 420, 461, 1201-03, 1205, 1217, 1247-48, 1386. This contract also listed Trevor as the CFO, but he did not sign the agreement. 1RP 1215-16; 2RP 993-94, 997, 1067-68.

Trevor filed for divorce from Loe shortly before the second contract was executed. 2RP 991, 1008, 1017.

Loe's company continued to pay the upfront costs associated with multiple photo shoots in 2018 and 2019, including travel and lodging expenses, the hiring of contractors and staff, wardrobe, and food. 2RP 778-82, 793, 821, 834-36, 839, 842, 853, 880-85, 900-03. Travel expenses associated with these projects could run into the five figures. 3RP 545-47. During 2019, Loe was featured on a reality television show which included the sunglasses as part of its marketing. 2RP 791-92, 855.

Loe's company also partnered with celebrities focusing on eyeglasses embellished with crystals, kimonos, and pajama wear. 2RP 776, 832-33; 3RP 50, 63-69, 72-75, 89, 84, 106, 144-45, 550-57, 658, 702, 733-35, 739. Ultimately, these projects did not prove very successful, but the contractors were paid in full for their work. 2RP 813-14; 3RP 63-64, 68, 83-85, 89-91, 112-14, 128-29, 134, 537, 541, 548, 658.

The following month, Gorelick opened a joint credit card with Loe. 2RP 1251-52, 1265; 3RP 408-09, 417; 3RP 202-04. Although a representative with the credit card company contacted Bellevue Police Department (BPD) to express concerns, Paula expressed no concerns to police in November 2018. 2RP 1251-52, 1265; 3RP 408-09, 417.

Paula had discussed earlier concerns about the contracts with her brother, Brian Gorelick, but ultimately authorized the checks through Gorelick's bank. 2RP 1203-04, 1240, 1248. In December 2018, Gorelick's friend and investment advisor, James Parsons, prepared a financial power of attorney (POA) document that immediately established Paula as her father's attorney in fact. In the event that Paula resigned from that role, authority would fall to Brian and then to Gorelick's other son, Kenneth Gorelick. Parsons, a business attorney who had known Gorelick for many years, had no concerns about Gorelick's capacity to execute the POA. 2RP 357-62, 363, 383, 386-87, 497-99, 507, 522-23.

Gorelick received a check for \$15,000 from Loe in February 2019 with a memo that suggested the check was for his share of the business profits for “QTR 6.” 2RP 166-67, 201, 1235-36, 1284, 1286-87, 1388. Business records would later establish that the venture had only generated \$9,800 by the time the check was issued. 2RP 1384-86. Gorelick declined to deposit the check so that Loe could continue to use the funds to build her business. 2RP 1235, 1280, 1287-88, 1439.

By May 2019, Gorelick’s children had changed their responsibilities under the POA; Paula resigned and Kenneth took over as attorney in fact. 2RP 48, 73-74, 136, 151-56, 175, 192-93, 195, 636-37, 1208, 1240. No one discussed this change with Gorelick. 2RP 156, 192-95. Kenneth who stood to inherit one third of Gorelick’s \$3 million dollar estate when he died, was concerned about the terms of the agreements with Loe and the amounts Gorelick was contributing to her business. 2RP 19, 37-40, 126-27, 135, 194-95, 1206-07.

Kenneth repeatedly emailed Loe, asking for clarification of the contract and investments. 2RP 41-48, 54-56, 60-65. When Loe's responses did not satisfy him, Kenneth also contacted several attorneys. 2RP 43, 45-46, 65-66. Later that month, Kenneth recorded a conversation with his father, with Gorelick's express permission, during which they discussed the family's concerns about Gorelick's transactions with Loe. 2RP 69-73.

Meanwhile, Gorelick provided EBC with a third check for \$350,000 on May 16, 2019, which was accompanied by a letter explaining that it was intended as a gift. 1RP 1217-25; 2RP 48, 58, 464, 1018, 1216-17, 1251; 3RP 167, 311. In response, as power of attorney, Kenneth froze Gorelick's bank accounts to prevent any further transactions without his approval. 2RP 121.

An attorney for Kenneth made a report to BPD in June 2019 and Detective Ray Lofink began investigation of the claims against Loe. 1RP 1198-99; 2RP 65-67, 161-62, 200,

1397-98, 1432. Lofink noticed significant memory issues between his two interviews of Gorelick, conducted approximately one week apart. 1RP 1240, 1244; 2RP 1288-89. In mid-June, Anderson, who was aware of the existing POA, made a same-day appointment with an attorney who drafted a new POA that gave Anderson power over Gorelick's accounts, including the right to gift funds to non-family members and to pay herself for serving as his attorney in fact. 3RP 879-84, 886-88, 892-93, 896-97, 904-06, 909-11, 913-14. The attorney had no concerns about Gorelick's mental capacity. 3RP 879-80, 882-84, 886-88, 892-93, 896-97, 904, 909-10, 913-14.

Gorelick had been administered a cognitive screening assessment by his primary care provider on June 18, 2019, but declined the recommendation for further testing. 2RP 679, 725; 3RP 943-45, 953-54, 965-69, 972-73. By this time, APS also opened an investigation. In early July 2019, Kenneth, Paula, and Gorelick had a tense conversation in the kitchen at Gorelick's house where they again discussed the transactions

with Loe. Anderson was also present for parts of the conversation, though she was repeatedly asked to leave. Kenneth recorded this conversation. CP 1046-1221. Gorelick insisted that Loe's venture just needed more time before he would see a return on his investments, but he was unable to articulate what the business was and appeared surprised to learn that he had contributed nearly \$900,000 to date. 2RP 76-121, 123-24, 139, 141-42, 162.

As part of the investigation, Gorelick was also subjected to several cognitive functioning tests, given concerns that he was suffering from dementia. 2RP 251. One such test in June 2019 was suggestive of moderate cognitive impairment. 2RP 249-51, 253-55, 261-63, 267, 289-90. Another exam paid for by Gorelick's family in July 2019, concluded that Gorelick was suffering from "unspecified neurocognitive disorder" but stopped short of diagnosing him with dementia or Alzheimer's. 2RP 606, 646, 658-59, 673, 679, 685, 710, 716. Gorelick was noted to have cognitive deficits in short term memory, math,

and information retention, leading to the opinion that he lacked the capacity to make financial and legal decisions. 2RP 663-70, 674-75, 687, 715, 729-31, 1139-40. The evaluator believed that Gorelick would have been showing signs of cognitive impairment as early as 2016. 2RP 675-76, 686, 696, 720, 723, 732, 735.

Based on this evidence, Loe was charged with three counts of theft from a vulnerable adult in the first degree and two counts of securities fraud, all of which carried allegations of special aggravating factors. CP 654-57. The State asserted that all of the charged crimes were major economic offenses or a series of such offenses, as defined by statute, and, as to the securities fraud charges, that Loe had committed those crimes knowing that Gorelick was a particularly vulnerable victim. CP 654-57. Gorelick died on November 19, 2019, before the case went to trial. 2RP 21, 126, 286, 297, 300, 1220.

2. The kitchen table recording.

Before trial, the prosecution sought to introduce multiple statements Gorelick made to certain individuals before his death.³ CP 1024-45. This included an audio recorded conversation made at Gorelick's home wherein Kenneth and Paula confronted him about the money he had given to Loe, his purpose for doing so, and detailed Loe's alleged use of that money. CP 1064, 1098-1160.

The prosecutor acknowledged there was "no acknowledgement on the recording that there was consent to record[]." CP 1030. The prosecutor nonetheless maintained that "[p]rior to the recording of the conversation, Kenny told Gorelick and Paula that he was recording the conversation, and both affirmatively consented to the recording. This

³ Loe initially objected to several of these statements on hearsay, confrontation clause, and privacy act grounds, but subsequently raised a privacy act objection only to the recorded statement challenged here. CP 1046-1158; CP 679-85, 707-09; 1RP 550, 718-19, 754-57.

announcement was made prior to the recording starting.” CP 1022.

The prosecution argued that Gorelick had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the conversation because it involved multiple people, including Anderson. Id.; 1RP 763, 767. The prosecution also argued the statutory requirement that a recording include an announcement that it would be recorded was not required because Gorelick affirmatively consented to the recording. 1RP 762. Initially, the prosecution maintained that Kenneth’s cellphone which recorded the conversation “was visible and placed on the table next to Kenny.” CP 1022. The prosecution later clarified that it was not “proposing that this is admissible because the recording device was obvious. That’s not the state’s argument.” 1RP 762.

Loe objected to admission of the recording, arguing that it violated the privacy act. CP 679-85, 707-09, 1062; 1RP 550, 718-19. Loe argued that Gorelick had an expectation of privacy because the recording occurred in his own home. 1RP 761. Loe

also maintained there was no admonishment on the recording itself to suggest that any of the participants knew they were being recorded. 1RP 761. Loe maintained that Kenneth's cellphone on the table did not make it readily apparent that the conversation was being recorded. Loe argued Anderson had not consented to the recording because she repeatedly said she did not want to talk about the allegations without an attorney present. 1RP 761-62, 767. Similarly, Loe argued that Gorelick's repeated statements that he did not want to talk with Kenneth about the allegations demonstrated an intention to keep the conversation private. 1RP 767-68.

The trial court disagreed with the prosecution's contention that Anderson was an unintended participant in the conversation which demonstrated there was no expectation of privacy. 1RP 763-67. In its oral ruling, the trial court concluded the portions of the recorded conversation involving only Gorelick, Kenneth, and Paula were not precluded by the privacy act. 1RP 768. The court agreed with the prosecution's argument

that “if there is consent then the requirement that the announcement be on the recording is not necessary[.]” 1RP 768.

The trial court excluded any portion of the recording where Anderson was involved in the conversation, concluding there was no evidence she had consented to the recording, and that she had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the home. 1RP 769. The court then identified the various sections of the recording that were inadmissible under the privacy act. 1RP 769-71.

No written findings of fact and conclusions of law were entered. An edited transcript of the recording was subsequently filed indicating which portions of the recording were admissible and which portions were excluded. CP 1159-1221. This included both the portions involving Anderson and those which were subsequently excluded for hearsay, relevance, or prejudicial reasons. Id.; 1RP 956-67. The redacted recording was subsequently played for the jury during Kenneth’s

testimony. 2RP 74-124. When the recording was played, the jury was instructed:

For purposes of these recordings your consideration of Morris Gorelick's statements is subject to the instruction I gave you earlier that his statements may be considered as they relate to his state of mind, mental condition, or intent but not for any other purpose. The statements of third parties, including Kenneth Gorelick, Paula Gorelick, and Detective Lofink, may only be considered for their impact on Morris Gorelick and may not be considered for any other purpose.

2RP 78. See also, 1RP 971, 1090-1105, 1182-83.

Paula also testified about the recorded conversation, explaining that Gorelick had not wanted to speak with Kenneth and seemed suspicious of his own children, which was a change from his usual relationship with them. 2RP 1207, 1227-28, 1240-41, 1258.

3. Verdict and sentencing.

A jury found Loe not guilty of first degree theft of a vulnerable adult as charged in count 1. 3RP 1193, 1208; CP 900. Loe was convicted of two counts of first degree theft of a

vulnerable adult and two counts of securities fraud. 3RP 1192-93; CP 901-04. The jury also returned special verdicts finding that each of the thefts and securities fraud offenses constituted a major economic offense or series of offenses. 3RP 1193-94; CP 898, 905. The jury also found that Loe knew, or should have known, that Gorelick was particularly vulnerable for both of the securities fraud offenses. 3RP 1194; CP 896-97.

Loe was sentenced to concurrent low end standard range sentences of 26 months on each of the thefts, and 12 months on the securities fraud. 3RP 1255-56; CP 996-1005. 12 months of community custody was also imposed. 3RP 1256; CP 1002-05.

4. Appeal.

Loe argued, inter alia, that admission of the kitchen table conversation violated the privacy act for several reasons. The Court of Appeals affirmed. Loe now seeks review.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Admission of the recording involving a private conversation between Gorelick and his children violated the privacy act, and this case presents an opportunity to clarify the proper test and burden of proof.

“Washington State’s privacy act is considered one of the most restrictive in the nation.” State v. Kipp, 179 Wn.2d 718, 724, 317 P.3d 1029 (2014) (citing State v. Townsend, 147 Wn.2d 666, 672, 57 P.3d 255 (2002)). “[T]he primary purpose of the privacy act is the protection of the privacy of individuals from public dissemination.” State v. Fjermestad, 114 Wn.2d 828, 834, 791 P.2d 897 (1990) (citing State v. Wanrow, 88 Wn.2d 221, 559 P.2d 548 (1977)).

The act includes RCW 9.73.030(1)(b), which prohibits the recording of a “[p]rivate conversation, by any device electronic or otherwise designed to record or transmit such conversation . . . without first obtaining the consent of all the persons engaged in the conversation.” Recordings obtained in

violation of the Privacy act are categorically inadmissible in most⁴ civil and criminal cases. RCW 9.73.050. A defendant has standing to object to evidence obtained in violation of the statute, even if not a participant in the conversation. State v. Williams, 94 Wn.2d 531, 534, 546, 617 P.2d 1012 (1980).

Alleged violations of the privacy act are reviewed de novo. State v. Bilgi, 19 Wn. App. 2d 845, 855, 496 P.3d 1230 (2021), review denied, 199 Wn.2d 1002, 504 P.3d 827 (2022). “The party seeking to admit evidence bears the burden of establishing its admissibility.” State v. Fields, 31 Wn. App. 2d 687, 709, 553 P.3d 71 (2024).

A trial court’s decision to deny a motion to suppress is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 421, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). Unchallenged findings of fact are considered verities on appeal, and the trial court’s conclusions of law must be supported by its findings of fact. State v. Homan, 181 Wn.2d 102, 106, 330 P.3d 182 (2014);

⁴ Certain exceptions do not apply here. See RCW 9.73.050.

State v. Glant, 13 Wn. App. 2d 356, 364, 465 P.3d 382, review denied, 196 Wn.2d 1021, 474 P.3d 1055 (2020). This Court reviews the trial court's conclusions of law de novo, and unchallenged conclusions of law become the law of the case. Bilgi, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 855.

a. The recorded conversation was private.

Because the privacy act does not define “conversation,” courts may use a dictionary to discern the plain meaning of that term. Newton v. State, 192 Wn. App. 931, 937, 369 P.3d 511, review denied, 186 Wn.2d 1003, 380 P.3d 446 (2016). Webster's Third New International Dictionary 498 (2002), defines “conversation” in pertinent part as an “oral exchange of sentiments, observations, opinions, ideas: colloquial discourse.”

The privacy act also does not define “private,” but this Court has held it to mean, “‘belonging to one's self ... secret ... intended only for the persons involved (a conversation) ... holding a confidential relationship to something ... a secret message: a private communication ... secretly: not open or in

public.’” State v. Clark, 129 Wn.2d 211, 225, 916 P.2d 384 (1996) (alterations in original) (quoting Kadoranian v. Bellingham Police Dep’t, 199 Wn.2d 178, 189-90, 829 P.2d 1061 (1992)). A communication is private under the act when (1) the parties have a subjective expectation that it is private, and (2) that expectation is objectively reasonable. State v. Modica, 164 Wn.2d 83, 88, 186 P.3d 1062 (2008). Among other things, the subject matter, the location of the participants, the potential presence of third parties, and the roles of the participants are relevant to whether the communication is private. Clark, 129 Wn.2d at 225-27. Whether a conversation is private is a question of fact but may be decided as a question of law if the facts are not meaningfully in dispute. Modica, 164 Wn.2d at 87.

Each of the relevant factors supports the conclusion that Gorelick had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the conversation. The conversation took place in his home, in the personal company of his children, over dinner. Although

Anderson was present for portions of the conversation, she was repeatedly told not to interfere in the conversation, demonstrating that Kenneth's subjective intention was the conversation was "intended only for the persons involved" i.e. "private." Clark, 129 Wn.2d at 225.

Similarly, Gorelick's repeated refusal to discuss certain details, despite Kenneth's persistence, demonstrates his subjective intention was also that the conversation remain private. See Fields, 31 Wn. App. 2d at 710-11 (recognizing subjective intent that a conversation be private can exist even where a party does not explicitly state as much, such as by stating they do not wish to be recorded); Modica, 164 Wn.2d at 88 (refusing to hold "that a conversation is not private simply because the participants know it will or might be recorded or intercepted.") The recording contains no affirmative consent from Gorelick. Interspersed in the conversation were mundane topics, including discussions about food and movies.

Based on the location of the conversation, parties involved, and topics discussed, it was reasonable for Gorelick to have both a subjective and reasonable expectation of privacy. The trial court appeared to agree. See 1RP 763-66, 768-69 (acknowledging “there’s a reasonable expectation that when you’re having a conversation in a private home, it’s private.”).

The Court of Appeals, however, concluded the conversation was “not subject to the privacy act because the conversation was not private; given the nature and circumstances of the conversation there was no reasonable expectation of privacy.” Op. at 17. The Court cited the fact that because formal investigations and civil lawsuits had begun before the conversation, the topics discussed therein were squarely in the public sphere. Op. at 15-17. This conclusion conflicts with the purpose and protections of the privacy act and this Court’s opinion in Kipp.

Accused of sexually assaulting his nieces, Kipp was confronted by their father, who secretly recorded their 10-

minute conversation and then disclosed it to the police. Kipp, 179 Wn.2d at 723. Kipp argued the recording violated the privacy act because he had a reasonable expectation that he was speaking privately with his brother-in-law about a sensitive matter. Id. at 722-23.

This Court agreed, concluding that the location of the conversation, family participants, and absence of a third party, demonstrated the conversation was private and should have been suppressed. Id. at 730-33. Recognizing “[a] private home is normally afforded maximum privacy protection[,]” the Court rejected the assertion that a kitchen was a per se common area subject to less protection. Id. at 731.

As in Kipp, Gorelick had a subjective and reasonable expectation of privacy in his own home while speaking with his children about a topic he wished not to discuss. The Court of Appeals reasoning contradicts this authority and impliedly holds the privacy act is never implicated—regardless of location, participants, and consent—if the topics discussed

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