FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/13/2025 10:59 AM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

NO. 103865-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ELLE BARKSDALE LOE,

Petitioner.

STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

IAN ITH Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

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

2. THIS CASE DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT OR THE COURT OF APPEALS AND DOES NOT PRESENT AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST.

Loe asserts under RAP 13.4(b)(1) that the unpublished decision in this case conflicts with the holdings in *Kipp* and *Fields*, *supra*. Loe is incorrect. Those cases involved markedly different facts than this case and are thus inapt to the Court of Appeals' conclusion that the conversation here was not private. The unique facts in this case are plainly distinguishable from those in *Kipp* and *Fields*, so Loe's case is not in conflict with the ultimate conclusions in those cases, made after case-specific analysis.

In *Kipp*, Kipp "manifested a subjective intention" to have a private, one-on-one conversation with his brother-in-law in his kitchen. 179 Wn.2d at 729-30. Here, Gorelick was called to a sit-down with his two adult children in the presence of an openly adversarial third party, Anderson, who repeatedly ignored the adult children's urgings to butt out of the conversation, and there was no evidence of a "subjective intention" to have a private conversation. Slip op. at 6, 15-16. In addition, Loe conceded at trial that everyone in the room was fully "aware of the allegations, aware of the police investigation, and [the Adult Protective Services] investigation going on in the background," all of which were very open circumstances that the Court of Appeals carefully considered and detailed. Slip op. at 15-16. With significantly different facts than *Kipp*, this case cannot conflict with *Kipp*'s holding on the reasonable expectation of privacy based on its own unique facts. A "determination as to whether a conversation is private

requires a case-by-case analysis." *Kipp*, 179 Wn.2d at 732. There is no conflict that this Court needs to resolve.

Similarly, Loe argues that under RAP 13.4(b)(2), review is warranted because Loe's case conflicts with *Fields*. But again, the conversation determined to be private in Fields was nothing like the "kitchen-table" conversation here. Fields and his wife were alone together in their home having a conversation about their sexual relationship, and Fields repeatedly told his wife he did not want to be recorded and that he would not talk about what she wanted to unless she turned her phone off. 31 Wn. App. at 707, 711-13. Here, Loe's mother, Anderson, was present during a conversation between Gorelick and his adult children about the subject matter of a pending police investigation into Loe — a conversation into which Anderson repeatedly inserted herself against the wishes of Gorelick's children. The Court of Appeals' factual determination that the recorded conversation here was not

private does not conflict with *Fields* when the two cases are nothing alike.

This case does not present any conflict with *Kipp*, *Fields*, or any other decision. Review is not warranted.

3. BECAUSE THE "KITCHEN-TABLE" CONVERSATION WAS NOT PRIVATE, CONSENT TO RECORD IS IRRELEVANT AND REVIEW IS UNWARRANTED.

Loe's complaints about Gorelick's lack of affirmative consent to be recorded (either explicit or inferred) are irrelevant because the meeting was not private. *See Fields*, 31 Wn. App. 2d at 709 (privacy act protects only "private" communications and conversation). In fact, because the Court of Appeals ultimately held that the meeting was not private, it was unnecessary for it to have first addressed the issue of consent to record. There is no reason for this Court to now wade into that issue — especially when Loe failed to preserve the issue and when the Court of Appeals concluded that the State failed to meet the trial court's conditional evidentiary ruling with

sufficient evidence of explicit consent, and the State is not seeking further review of that determination.

In this case, the State's offer of proof was that Kenneth would testify that both Gorelick and Paula affirmatively consented to recording of the conversation—prior to the start of the recording—making it unnecessary to infer consent from an announcement on the recording itself as set forth in RCW 9.73.030(3). But Loe failed to object when the trial testimony did not meet the State's offer of proof, upon which the trial court's tentative pretrial ruling was based.

Thus, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that Loe failed to preserve a claim that Gorelick and his daughter Paula (Kenneth's sister) did not consent to recording because Loe failed to object after the testimony of Kenneth and Paula at trial did not meet the State's pretrial offer of proof, upon which the trial court's pretrial finding of admissibility rested. *Loe*, Slip op. at 14 (citing *State v. Riker*, 123 Wn.2d 351, 369, 869 P.2d 43 (1994) (defendant who does not seek final ruling on motion

in limine after court issues tentative ruling waives any objection to the evidence).

Loe's suggestion to the contrary implies that a trial court must do the job of the attorneys and police all testimony for legal error *sua sponte*. But that is not the way error preservation works. If the trial court makes only a tentative pretrial ruling, conditioned on the later introduction of evidence or testimony to support the State's offer of proof, the defendant must object at trial if he feels the required evidence is missing. State v. Roosma, 19 Wn. App. 2d 941, 949, 498 P.3d 59 (2021). "When a trial court makes a ruling 'subject to [the] evidence [to be] developed at trial, the parties are under a duty to raise the issue at the appropriate time with proper objections at trial." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Koloske*, 100 Wn.2d 889, 896, 676 P.2d 456 (1984)). If a pretrial ruling is tentative, any error in admitting the evidence is waived unless the trial court is given the opportunity to reconsider its ruling when the evidence is submitted at trial. State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 257, 893

P.2d 615 (1995). Here, any *final* ruling on the admissibility of the "kitchen-table" recording based on consent was to be made when the evidence was actually presented at trial. Loe failed to object at trial on the grounds that the State did not present sufficient evidence of explicit consent. The Court of Appeals carefully considered the record and properly concluded that the issue was waived.

Regardless, the privacy act protects only "private" communications and conversation. RCW 9.73.030; *Fields*, 31 Wn. App. 2d at 709 (2024). Where the Court of Appeals correctly held here that the "kitchen-table" conversation was *not private*, the issue of consent to record is irrelevant. Whether a meeting or conversation is private is a different question than whether a party gives consent to record a private conversation; the first question is prerequisite to the second. Review as to the issue of consent would be unnecessary and improper.

4. ANY ERROR WAS UNDOUBTEDLY HARMLESS.

The admission of evidence in violation of the privacy act is generally subject to a harmless-error analysis. *Kipp*, 179

Wn.2d at 733 n.8 (citing *State v. Christensen*, 153 Wn.2d 186, 200, 102 P.3d 789 (2004) (declining to conduct harmless-error analysis because the State did not argue it). In both *Kipp* and *Fields*, the State did not argue harmless error. *Id.*; *Fields*, 31

Wn. App. at 715. Here, the State did. Had the Court of Appeals found that the "kitchen-table" recording was admitted in error, any such error would have been undoubtedly harmless. Review of this case is not warranted because this Court would conclude the same.

Admission of evidence in violation of the privacy act is a statutory violation, not a constitutional one. *State v. Courtney*, 137 Wn. App. 376, 383, 153 P.3d 238 (2007). "This error is not prejudicial unless the erroneous admission of the evidence materially affected the outcome of the trial." *Id.* Thus, if this

recording was erroneously admitted, Loe is entitled to reversal only if there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different had the recorded conversation been excluded.

The State set forth its detailed harmless-error argument in its briefing below. Brf. of Respondent at 47-51. To summarize, the kitchen-table recording was admitted to the jury for the narrow purpose of proving Gorelick's "state of mind, mental condition, or intent," of which the jury was strictly instructed. ⁵ 1RP 1182-83; 2RP 77-78. This Court presumes that juries follow all instructions the trial court gives them. *State v. Stein*, 144 Wn.2d 236, 247, 27 P.3d 184 (2001).

_

⁵ The court instructed the jury that it "may only consider statements of Morris Gorelick as evidence of his state of mind, mental condition, or intent. You may not consider those statements for any other purpose." 1RP 1182. The court also informed the jury that it "may consider the statements of third parties made outside of the courtroom to Morris Gorelick . . . only for purposes of their impact on Morris Gorelick and not for any other purpose. They may not be considered for the truth of the matter asserted." 1RP 1183; 2RP 77-78.

Based on the trial court's limiting instruction, the kitchen-table conversation was probative only of Gorelick's "state of mind, mental condition and intent" at the time of that meeting in July 2019, weeks after he had written the last check to Loe. 1RP 1182. The recording demonstrated that Gorelick (1) did not believe that Loe had stolen from him, (2) that he could not recall how much money he had given Loe, and (3) that he could not articulate what Loe's business was about or explain how her profligate spending could be for legitimate business purposes.

But all of those facts were separately before the jury, and repetitively so. Because the recording was cumulative of unchallenged admitted evidence showing the same state of mind and mental condition, it is exceedingly unlikely the jury would have acquitted Loe had the recording not come in.

For example, Detective Lofink's video-recorded interview with Gorelick on June 11, 2019, admitted without objection, was closer in time to when Loe obtained money from

Gorelick than the kitchen-table conversation. 1RP 1240-43; Ex. 11. As in the later kitchen-table conversation, Gorelick was adamant to Lofink that Loe was "not a thief," could not remember how much money he had given Loe, could not recall how many checks he had signed, and expressed surprise when confronted with a check and other records. *See* Brf. of Respondent at 49-50.

The detective also testified about returning to speak with Gorelick about a week later, on June 19, 2019, by which point Gorelick had forgotten who Lofink was. The detective's testimony of this meeting established many of the same facts as the kitchen-table meeting, such as that Gorelick could not remember how many checks he had written to Loe and did not know the name of Loe's company. That June 19 conversation also was closer in time to when Gorelick signed checks to Loe than the kitchen conversation. Thus, Lofink's testimony and recorded interview with Gorelick established essentially the same facts as the kitchen-table recording: that Gorelick was

easily confused, could not remember how much he had given Loe, believed Loe was running a legitimate business, and did not believe that Loe had stolen from him.

Still more, the State also presented testimony from Adult Protective Services investigators who interviewed Gorelick and testified to his obvious cognitive impairment. The kitchen-table recording was also revealing about how strained Gorelick's relationship with his son Kenneth became. But Kenneth, Kenneth's sister Paula, and Gorelick's lawyer, James Parsons, all testified about that. And it was plainly evident in a notarized statement that Loe had Gorelick sign in May 2019, which was also presented to the jury. Ex. 9; see Brf. of Respondent at 50-51; see also Brf. of Respondent at 82-84 (timeline of events in the case with citations to the record).

Given the volume of evidence the State presented to prove Gorelick's state of mind, mental condition, or intent, the admission of the kitchen-table recording, if erroneous, was

undoubtedly harmless. Its admission could not possibly have materially affected the outcome of Loe's trial.

F. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals very carefully considered the issue of whether the "kitchen-table" conversation was private, under the proper standard of review, and properly concluded that it was not. As such, the issue of Gorelick's consent to record the conversation is irrelevant to resolving this case. The Court of Appeals' opinion does not conflict with this Court's opinions or those of the Court of Appeals, and it does not rise to an issue of substantial public interest. Review is unwarranted. And because any error would be undoubtedly harmless, review is even more unnecessary. The petition for review should be denied.

This document contains 4,118 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.